## **RECEIVED**

12-09-2015

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP2030-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY DARNELL DAVIS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Timothy Dugan, Presiding.

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

DUSTIN C. HASKELL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1071804

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Was the evidence introduced at trial insufficient as a matter of law to convict Anthony Davis of recklessly causing *great bodily harm*, where the only charged injuries were broken bones, and where the definition of *substantial bodily harm* expressly includes "any fracture of a bone"? Or must great bodily harm mean something *more* than a fractured bone in light of the definition of substantial bodily harm?

The sufficiency of the evidence is challenged for the first time on appeal, as permitted by Wis. Stat. § 974.02(2).

2. Mr. Davis filed a postconviction motion arguing that his trial attorney was ineffective for failing to impeach one of the State's witnesses with her eight prior convictions. Did the circuit court err in denying the postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing?

The circuit court denied Mr. Davis' postconviction motion without a hearing, ruling that he was not prejudiced by trial counsel's error.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Davis requests publication to address whether an injury specifically defined as "substantial bodily harm" can also constitute "great bodily harm." Here, Mr. Davis was convicted of fracturing the victim's ribs and leg. "Substantial bodily harm" expressly means "any fracture of a bone," but Mr. Davis was convicted of the more severe, "great bodily harm." These overlapping definitions conflict with the "basic

rule of statutory construction" that the court should "give each statutory word independent meaning so that no word is redundant or superfluous." *Pawlowski v. Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co.*, 2009 WI 105, ¶ 22, 322 Wis. 2d 21, 777 N.W.2d 67. Publication is appropriate to address whether such overlap is permissible, or if the differing degrees of harm must be read to actually mean different things.

Mr. Davis does not request oral argument, but welcomes the opportunity if the court believes it would be helpful.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 18, 2013, the State filed a complaint charging Anthony Davis with one count of child abuse by recklessly causing great bodily harm, as a repeat offender, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 939.62(1)(c) and 948.03(3)(a). The complaint alleged that Mr. Davis' four-month-old daughter, L.D., was brought to Children's Hospital where she was found to have numerous leg fractures, bruising around subconjunctival hemorrhages (broken blood vessel in the eye), and a torn frenulum (skin beneath the tongue). (2). According to Lakiesha Bowie, the victim's mother, she and Mr. Davis were L.D.'s sole caregivers. (2:2). The complaint further alleged that Mr. Davis made a statement to police that he would play rough with L.D., but denying any intentional abuse. (2:2).

On May 28, 2013, the State filed an amended complaint, adding a second count of recklessly causing great bodily harm to L.D., as a repeat offender. (4; App. 109). The amended complaint alleged that a CT scan showed that L.D. had six rib fractures in addition to the previously identified injuries. (4:3; App. 111). The complaint specified that Count

One related to the leg fracture, and Count Two related to the rib fractures.

#### **Trial**

The case was tried before a jury in August 2013. Shortly before the trial began, the parties agreed that Ms. Bowie would admit to having eight prior convictions, and Mr. Davis, should he testify, would admit to five prior convictions. (53:3; App. 124); Wis. Stat. § 906.09(1) ("For the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness, evidence that the witness has been convicted of a crime or adjudicated delinquent is admissible.").

At trial, the State called four witnesses. First, Officer Amy Stolowski testified that she was dispatched to Children's Hospital after L.D. was brought in and suspected to be an abuse victim. (55:26-27). She testified that Mr. Davis told her that he and Ms. Bowie were L.D.'s only caregivers. (55:28). She also testified that Mr. Davis seemed upset and surprised to hear that L.D. suffered such serious injuries, but he had no explanation for those injuries. (55:31, 33-34).

Ms. Bowie testified that she and Mr. Davis were L.D.s sole caregivers in the two weeks before the injuries were discovered. (55:45). She testified that she was not worried about police looking for evidence of abuse because she was certain no abuse had occurred. (55:47). She admitted that she slept in bed with L.D., and that she rolled over on L.D. a few nights before they went to the hospital, but she said she had been told that could not have caused the leg fractures. (55:51). During her testimony, the State played recorded jail calls from Mr. Davis, during which he admitted to using heroin and accidentally sitting on L.D. (55:53-59).

On cross-examination, Ms. Bowie testified that she would leave the house with L.D. without Mr. Davis, and that her mother watched the baby twice. (55:70-71). She testified that she never dropped the baby, but admitted again that she frequently slept with the baby. (55:74). She also testified that in the preceding months, she had taken L.D. to the hospital on five occasions, but each time L.D. was discharged after minor injuries were noted. (55:74-80).

Neither the prosecutor nor trial counsel asked Ms. Bowie if she had ever been convicted of a crime, or how many times.

Dr. Angela Rabbitt, a child abuse pediatrician, testified that she believed L.D.'s injuries were the result of abuse. She testified that bruising and fractures are very rare in young babies in the absence of abuse. (55:91, 95-97). She testified that the leg fractures would have required twisting or pulling the leg, and that the fractures could not have resulted from a fall. (55:97-98). She testified that the rib fractures may have resulted from compression, and that they "possibly" could have resulted from a 300 pound person sitting on L.D. (55:100; 56:16). She suspected that the leg fractures were less than six weeks old and that the rib fractures were four to seven days old. (55:105). She opined that rolling onto the baby would not have exerted enough force for either set of fractures. (56:5-6, 10-11). She testified that dropping a child, then falling on the child would be the type of force that could have caused the rib fractures. (56:11-12).

Finally, the State called Detective Marilyn Francis, who interviewed Ms. Bowie and Mr. Davis. She testified that during a recorded interview with Mr. Davis, he initially said he had no idea where the injuries came from, and said that Ms. Bowie always had the baby with her. (55:31). During that

statement, he admitted to using heroin and cocaine. (44:3; App. 105). He said that sometimes he was a little rough with L.D., but he did not believe he ever caused any serious injuries. He said that on one occasion, he was holding L.D.'s hands to help her walk, and she fell and he thought he heard a pop. (44:3; App. 105). Detective Francis also testified that during the interview, Mr. Davis demonstrated how he would change L.D.'s diaper. (55:34-35). Although the jury did not see this portion of the interview, she testified that "his movements just seemed to be overly exaggerated" because he spread the doll's legs far apart and brought its legs up to its chest. (55:34-35).

After the State rested, Mr. Davis decided to testify. At the outset of his testimony, he admitted that he had five prior convictions. (56:44). He denied shaking or pulling L.D., but he admitted to accidentally sitting on her once. (56:48). He stated that he weighed 315 pounds at the time. (56:58). He testified that he and his family were staying at a hotel, and he left the room to use some cocaine. (56:49). When he returned to the room, the lights were off, and he accidentally sat on L.D. (56:53). He testified that he realized she was there after only a couple seconds and quickly got up. (56:54).

As to each count, the court instructed the jury that the State had to prove Mr. Davis caused great bodily harm to L.D. (56:82). The court instructed the jury that "[g]reat bodily harm means injury which creates a substantial risk of death or which causes serious permanent disfigurement or which causes a permanent or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ or other serious bodily injury." (56:82). This instruction was identical to the relevant pattern jury instruction. Wis. JI-Criminal 2111.

While deliberating, the jury submitted one question, asking the court to confirm that Count One related to the rib fractures and Count Two related to the leg fractures. (57:11). The Court, with the agreement of the parties, advised the jury that Count One related to the leg fractures, and Count Two related to the rib fractures. (57:11). The jury later returned verdicts finding Mr. Davis guilty of both counts of recklessly causing great bodily harm to L.D.

On October 8, 2013, the court sentenced Mr. Davis to two concurrent sentences of ten years in confinement, followed by five years of extended supervision. (58:42).

#### **Postconviction**

Following sentencing, Mr. Davis filed a postconviction motion for a new trial. (37; App. 113). The motion argued that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to impeach Ms. Bowie with her eight prior convictions. (37:5-9; App. 117-21). The motion argued that there could be no strategic reason for failing to impeach Ms. Bowie, because a central theme of the defense was that Ms. Bowie actually abused L.D. (37:6; App. 118). The motion also argued that Mr. Davis' defense was prejudiced by this omission because it would have aided that defense, and would have been especially helpful in light of the State's weak evidence connecting him to the abuse. (37:6-9; App. 118-21).

On September 18, 2015, the circuit court entered an order denying the postconviction motion. (44; App. 103). The circuit court did not address deficiency, but ruled that Mr. Davis could not show he was prejudiced by trial counsel's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The motion also asked the court to vacate a DNA surcharge. (37:9-10; App. 121-22). That request was granted and is not being appealed. (38).

failure to impeach Ms. Bowie: "there [was] no reasonable probability there would have been a different outcome had trial counsel impeached Ms. Bowie with her prior convictions." (44:4; App. 106). The court concluded:

Based on the court's observations, Ms. Bowie came across as a credible witness and a concerned mother. The jury did not believe the defendant's suggestion that someone else was responsible for L.D.'s injuries. Likewise, the court found at sentencing that the defendant's "testimony was totally incredible." At the time the court indicated that had it been the trier of fact, it would have found the defendant guilty. Under the circumstances and based on the court's own observations of the witnesses, the court cannot conclude that there is a reasonable probability that the jury would have reached a different result had it heard about Ms. Bowie's eight convictions.

(44:5; App. 107).

Mr. Davis appeals.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Broken Bones Are Insufficient as a Matter of Law to Constitute Great Bodily Harm; Therefore, This Court Should Reverse Mr. Davis' Conviction.

This Court should reverse Mr. Davis' conviction for causing great bodily harm because a broken bone cannot constitute great bodily harm as a matter of law. Mr. Davis was convicted of two counts of child abuse by recklessly causing great bodily harm. Wis. Stat. § 948.03(3)(a).<sup>2</sup> The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Whoever recklessly causes great bodily harm to a child is guilty of a Class E felony." Wis. Stat. § 948.03(3)(a).

only injuries that were charged, and which the jury was instructed to consider, were a broken leg (Count One) and broken ribs (Count Two).

Broken bones are explicitly enumerated as one of the injuries constituting *substantial* bodily harm; therefore, they cannot simultaneously constitute the more severe *great* bodily harm. Reading both statutes to include a broken bone, without something more, would make the statutes redundant, thereby violating the basic principle of statutory interpretation that courts must "give each statutory word independent meaning so that no word is redundant or superfluous." *Pawlowski v. Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co.*, 2009 WI 105, ¶ 22, 322 Wis. 2d 21, 777 N.W.2d 67.

To give each word independent meaning, great bodily harm must be read to mean something *more* than just a broken bone. Because Mr. Davis' conviction was based solely on breaking L.D.'s ribs and her leg, the evidence is insufficient to convict him of causing great bodily harm.

Due process demands that the State prove each element of a charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970). On appeal, a court must reverse a defendant's conviction where "the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction is so insufficient in probative value and force that it can be said as a matter of law that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990).

"[W]hether the evidence viewed most favorably to the verdict satisfies the legal elements of the crime constitutes a question of law, which [this court] reviews *de novo.*" *State v. Routon*, 2007 WI App 178, ¶ 17, 304 Wis. 2d 480, 736 N.W.2d 530.

Wisconsin law recognizes three distinct gradations of harm: bodily harm, substantial bodily harm, and great bodily harm. Wis. Stat. §§ 939.22 (4), (14), and (38). Bodily harm "means physical pain or injury, illness, or any impairment of physical condition." Substantial bodily harm "means bodily injury that causes a laceration that requires stitches, staples, or a tissue adhesive; *any fracture of a bone*; a broken nose; a burn; a petechial; a temporary loss of consciousness, sight or hearing; a concussion; or a loss or fracture of a tooth." (Emphasis added.) And great bodily harm "means bodily injury which creates a substantial risk of death, or which causes serious permanent disfigurement, or which causes a permanent or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ or other serious bodily injury."

Each definition of harm covers a unique set of injuries. Although the jury is generally responsible for drawing the line between these definitions, they remain subject to judicial scrutiny, and the court may dismiss a conviction if the evidence is insufficient to satisfy a particular grade of harm. *Flores v. State*, 76 Wis. 2d 50, 58, 250 N.W.2d 720 (1977) (overruled on other grounds by *State v. Richards*, 123 Wis. 2d 1, 365 N.W.2d 7 (1985)) (citing *State v. Bronston*, 7 Wis. 2d 627, 97 N.W.2d 504 (1959)).

In 1955, there were only two gradations: bodily harm and great bodily harm. While bodily harm was defined as it is today, great bodily harm did not originally include the last clause, "or other serious bodily injury." *La Barge v. State*, 74 Wis. 2d 327, 333, 246 N.W.2d 794 (1976). That catch-all was added one year later. *Id*.

In *La Barge*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court first addressed the new definition of "great bodily harm." There, the defendant argued that his victim did not sustain great

bodily harm, so he could not be convicted of an aggravated battery requiring that result. *Id.* at 330. That defendant "cut and stabbed" the victim, resulting in 12 separate wounds that required stitches. *Id.* at 329-30. The court held that the amendment to include "or other serious bodily injury" was intended to bring a much larger range of injuries within the scope of "great bodily harm."

Our study of the legislative history of the particular statute leads, however, to the conclusion that the phrase, "or other serious bodily injury," was designed as an intentional broadening of the scope of the statute to include bodily injuries which were serious, although not of the same type or category as those recited in the statute.

*Id.* at 332. Thus, the court eschewed *ejusdem generis*<sup>3</sup> and held that "great bodily harm" encompassed more than simply injuries akin to the "serious permanent disfigurement" and "substantial risk of death," that were otherwise included in the definition. Based on that "intentional broadening," the court held that the stabbing in that case could reasonably constitute "serious bodily injury," even if the injuries were not of the type otherwise defined as great bodily harm. *Id.* at 335.

Two years later, the "broadening" of great bodily harm was subject to constitutional challenge. In *Cheatham v. State*, the defendant argued that the catch-all, as defined by *La Barge*, was unconstitutionally vague. 85 Wis. 2d 112, 114, 270 N.W.2d 194 (1978). There, the defendant attacked a pedestrian from behind, struck her in the head, and dragged her to a parking lot. *Id.* The defendant fled when other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "[W]hen a general word or phrase follows a list of specifics, the general word or phrase will be interpreted to include only items of the same class as those listed." Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014).

individuals came upon them. *Id.* 114-15. "[T]he victim sustained a depressed skull fracture which cut into a blood vessel in the brain and caused a neurological impairment." *Id.* at 115. A doctor testified that the injury was life-threatening, but the victim had fully recovered. *Id.* 

The court held that the definition of great bodily harm was not unconstitutionally vague. The court explained that even though *La Barge*'s interpretation of "other serious bodily injury" significantly expanded the scope of the statute, that clause still derived meaning from the specific injuries that were enumerated. *Id.* at 124. Thus, even if the "other serious bodily injury" did not have to be the same type of injuries as those enumerated in the definition, those enumerated injuries provided enough context to save the statute from a vagueness challenge. *Id.* The court held:

Presented with an instruction containing the entire statutory definition of 'great bodily harm' a jury could reasonably interpret the phrase 'other serious bodily injury' in that context, particularly so because of the preceding phrases which describe severe injuries. Even though the general phrase is not restricted to the meaning of the enumerated injuries, it acquires sufficient definition because of the nature of the injuries enumerated.

#### Id.

Bodily harm and great bodily harm coexisted harmoniously for the next 25 years, until the legislature created a middle grade of harm: "substantial bodily harm." Wis. Stat. § 939.22(38); 1993 Wis. Act 441. Unlike the other grades of harm, substantial bodily harm does not include a catch-all; it simply lists specific injuries. Relevant to this case, substantial bodily harm means "any fracture of a bone . . . ." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Counsel has been unable to locate any published decision addressing whether the injuries defined as "substantial bodily harm" can simultaneously constitute "great bodily harm." In 2005, this Court addressed the sufficiency of a jury instruction on "great bodily harm," but did not discuss the potential overlap of Wisconsin's three types of bodily harm. *State v. Ellington*, 2005 WI App 243, 288 Wis. 2d 264, 707 N.W.2d 907.<sup>4</sup>

While the catch-all, "other serious bodily injury," has resulted in a "broadening" of great bodily harm, its reach is not boundless. There are still some injuries that, as a matter of law, cannot constitute great bodily harm. *Flores*, 76 Wis. 2d at 58 (overruled on other grounds by *Richards*, 123 Wis. 2d 1) (citing *Bronston*, 7 Wis. 2d 627).

The legislature has created these three gradations of harm, and it is incumbent upon the court to construe those standards harmoniously. And in this instance, the legislature has provided considerable guidance. Broken bones, burns, concussions are all specifically defined as substantial bodily harm. Those injuries cannot also be great bodily harm. *Pawlowski*, 322 Wis. 2d 21, ¶ 22. If a broken bone, without more, satisfies "great bodily harm," then "substantial bodily harm" becomes superfluous. Great bodily harm must necessarily mean something *more* than a broken bone (or any of the other injuries defined as substantial bodily harm).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> There, the court held that because *ejusdem generis* did not apply to great bodily harm, the jury did not need to be instructed on the entire statutory definition. *Ellington*, 288 Wis. 2d 264,  $\P$  7. Instructing the jury only that the State had to prove "serious bodily injury" was sufficient. *Id.*,  $\P$  10. But the court did not address the interplay between the various types of harm.

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