### **RECEIVED**

02-10-2016

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

### **DISTRICT I**

\_\_\_\_

Case No. 2015AP2030-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY DARNELL DAVIS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY G. DUGAN, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1009170 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Given the nature of the arguments raised in the brief of defendant-appellant Anthony Davis, the State exercises its option not to present a statement of the case. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a). The relevant facts and procedural history will be discussed in the argument section of this brief.

### **ARGUMENT**

Davis was convicted following a jury trial of two counts of physical abuse of a child by recklessly causing great bodily harm to his three-month-old daughter, L.D. (20:1; A-Ap. 101). He appeals from the judgment of conviction, arguing that the evidence is insufficient to support his convictions because "broken bones are insufficient as a matter of law to constitute great bodily harm." Davis's brief at 7 (uppercasing omitted).

In a postconviction motion, Davis sought a new trial, alleging that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel because his lawyer failed to impeach L.D.'s mother with her prior convictions (37:1; A-Ap. 113). The circuit court denied that motion in an order that Davis also appeals (44:1-6; A-Ap. 103-08).

Davis's sufficiency of the evidence claim is flawed because it is based on an erroneous interpretation of the statutory elements of the offense. His ineffective assistance of counsel claim fails because he has not demonstrated that he was prejudiced by counsel's failure to impeach the witness. Accordingly, the court should affirm the judgment of conviction and the order denying postconviction relief.

# I. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT DAVIS'S CONVICTIONS.

Davis was charged in count one with recklessly causing great bodily harm to L.D., in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.03(3)(a), by causing multiple leg fractures (4:1-2; 5:1). A physician testified at trial that the femurs in both of L.D.'s knees were fractured, that the tibia and fibula were fractured in one of her legs, and that her foot also was fractured (55:97). Davis was charged in count two with recklessly causing great bodily harm to L.D., also in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.03(3)(a), by causing multiple rib fractures (4:1; 5:1). The physician testified that ribs four through eight on L.D.'s right side were fractured (55:94).

Davis's challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence is limited to an argument regarding the meaning of "great bodily harm." He does not argue that the evidence was insufficient to show that he caused the injuries to L.D. or that he acted recklessly. Rather, he argues that, as a matter of law, a bone fracture may not constitute "great bodily harm"

because the statutory definition of "substantial bodily harm" explicitly includes bone fractures. The court should reject that argument because the fact the statutory definition of "substantial bodily harm" includes "any fracture of a bone" does preclude a jury from finding that a particular bone fracture – or as in this case, the multiple bone fractures suffered by three-month-old L.D. – were a "serious bodily injury" under the definition of "great bodily harm."

Before responding to Davis's argument, though, the State will address a more fundamental problem with Davis's reliance on the definition of substantial bodily harm. The definition of substantial bodily harm is relevant in battery prosecutions, where there are three levels of battery depending on whether the defendant caused bodily harm, substantial bodily harm, or great bodily harm. See Wis. Stat. § 940.19. But the physical abuse of a child statute under which Davis was convicted, Wis. Stat. § 948.03, penalizes just two types of harm: bodily harm and great bodily harm. See Wis. Stat. § 948.03(2), (3). Because there is no offense of physical abuse of a child by causing substantial bodily harm, the statutory definition of substantial bodily harm is irrelevant in a child abuse case.

### A. Applicable legal principles and standard of review.

Whether the evidence viewed most favorably to the verdict satisfies the legal elements of the crime constitutes a question of law that the court of appeals reviews de novo. *State v. Cavallari*, 214 Wis. 2d 42, 47, 571 N.W.2d 176 (Ct. App. 1997). Statutory

interpretation also presents a question of law that this court reviews de novo. *State v. Adams*, 2015 WI App 34, ¶4, 361 Wis. 2d 766, 863 N.W.2d 640.

Statutory interpretation "begins with the language of the statute." *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County,* 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 (quoted source omitted). Statutory language "is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning." *Id.* If the statute's meaning is plain, there is no ambiguity, and the statute is applied according to its terms. *Id.*, ¶ 46. However, if a statute "is capable of being understood by reasonably well-informed persons in two or more senses," the statute is ambiguous, and the court may consult extrinsic sources, such as legislative history. *Id.*, ¶ 47–48.

Statutory history is part of a plain meaning analysis. *Heritage Farms, Inc. v. Markel Ins. Co.*, 2009 WI 27, ¶50, 316 Wis. 2d 47, 762 N.W.2d 652. Statutory history encompasses the previously enacted, amended, and repealed provisions of a statute. *Id.* "By analyzing the changes the legislature has made over the course of several years, [the court] may be assisted in arriving at the meaning of a statute." *Id.* (quoted source omitted). "'Therefore, statutory history is part of the context in which [the court] interpret[s] the words used in a statute."" *Id.* 

B. The statutory definition of "substantial bodily harm" is irrelevant in a child abuse prosecution under Wis. Stat. § 948.03.

The definition of "substantial bodily harm" upon which Davis rests his argument was created in 1994, when the legislature repealed and recreated the battery statute, Wis. Stat. § 940.19. See 1993 Wis. Act 441, §§ 1, 4. Before then, there were two types of battery depending on the degree of harm: battery (causing bodily harm) and aggravated battery (causing great bodily harm). See Wis. Stat. § 940.19 (1991-92). The 1994 revision to the battery statute created three types of battery: battery (causing bodily harm), substantial battery substantial bodily harm), and aggravated battery (causing great bodily harm). See 1993 Wis. Act 441, §§ 1, 4.

Like the version of the battery statute in effect before 1994, the pre-1994 physical abuse of a child statute recognized two levels of injury, bodily harm and great bodily harm. See Wis. Stat. § 948.03(2), (3) (1991-92). But when the legislature amended the battery statute in 1994 to add an intermediate type of battery based on substantial bodily harm, it did not amend the child abuse statute to include an offense that uses that standard. See 1993 Wis. Act 441. Instead, the statute has continued to addresses only two types of bodily harm: "bodily harm" and "great bodily harm." See Wis. Stat. § 948.03(2), (3) (2013-14).

The absence of "substantial bodily harm" as a type of injury in Wis. Stat. § 948.03 demonstrates that the legislature did not intend to insert the new definition of "substantial bodily harm" into prosecutions for physical abuse of a child. Davis's argument that "the specifically enumerated injuries in the substantial bodily harm definition have necessarily carved a niche between bodily harm and great bodily harm," Davis's brief at 13, fails because "substantial bodily harm" is not a concept applicable to child abuse prosecutions under Wis. Stat. § 948.03.

C. The fact the definition of "substantial bodily harm" includes "any fracture of a bone" does not mean that no bone fracture or fractures, regardless of their severity, can be a "serious bodily injury" under the definition of "great bodily harm."

Even if the definition of substantial bodily harm were relevant in a child abuse prosecution under Wis. Stat. § 948.03, Davis's argument that the inclusion of bone fractures in that definition means that a bone fracture may not, as a matter of law, constitute serious bodily injury is without merit.

The general criminal definitions in Wis. Stat. § 939.22 include definitions for three types of bodily harm. They are, in order of increasing severity, bodily harm, substantial bodily harm, and great bodily harm. See Wis. Stat. § 939.22(4), (14), and (38). Davis was convicted of recklessly causing "great

bodily harm," which is defined as "bodily injury which creates a substantial risk of death, or which causes serious permanent disfigurement, or which causes a permanent or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ or other serious bodily injury." Wis. Stat. § 939.22(14).

The State agrees with Davis that the bone fractures forming the factual bases for the two counts on which he was convicted do not satisfy any of the enumerated forms of injury described in that definition. If those fractures qualify as great bodily harm, they must do so as "other serious bodily injury."

Davis argues that bone fractures may not constitute "other serious bodily injury" because a bone fractures is one of the forms of injury specified in the definition of a "substantial bodily harm." That statute defines "substantial bodily harm" as "bodily injury that causes a laceration that requires stitches, staples, or a tissue adhesive; any fracture of a bone; a broken nose; a burn; a petechia; a temporary loss of consciousness, sight or hearing; a concussion; or a loss or fracture of a tooth." Wis. Stat. § 939.22(38) (emphasis added). Davis contends that "[t]o give each word independent meaning, great bodily harm must be read to mean something more than just a broken bone." Davis's brief at 8. And, he further argues, because there is no statute for recklessly causing "substantial bodily harm" to a child, the State was limited to charging him with recklessly harm" under Wis. causing "bodily Stat. § 948.03(3)(b). See Davis's brief at 13 n.5.

But nothing in the language in the definitions of "great" or "substantial" bodily harm compels that interpretation. Some amount of overlap between these definitions is expected. For example, burns are part of the definition of substantial bodily harm, but a burn may have effects that are specifically named in the definition of great bodily harm, such as risk of death, disfigurement, or loss of function. The legislature surely understood that some burns will meet both definitions.

Likewise, just because all fractures, no matter how minor, meet the definition of substantial bodily harm, that does not mean that a particular fracture cannot be serious enough to qualify as "other serious bodily injury" for purposes of constituting great bodily harm. Davis provides no sound linguistic or policy explanation for why a given fracture (or, as in this case, multiple fractures) may not constitute both substantial bodily harm, based on the definition of that term, and great bodily harm, by reason of its seriousness. Not every fracture will rise to the level of being "other serious bodily injury," but some will.

D. Case law and statutory history supports the conclusion that the types of injuries listed in the definition of "substantial bodily harm" may also constitute "great bodily harm."

Davis's statutory construction argument relies heavily on the statutory history of the definitions of various types of "bodily harm" and the case law interpreting those terms. That case law and statutory history is relevant to discerning the plain meaning of the statute under which Davis was convicted, *see Heritage Farms*, 316 Wis. 2d 47, ¶50, but it does not support his statutory interpretation.

In State v. Bronston, 7 Wis. 2d 627, 631, 97 N.W.2d 504 (1959), overruled by La Barge v. State, 74 Wis. 2d 327, 246 N.W.2d 794 (1976), the supreme court observed that "[a]ggravated battery was introduced into the criminal law of this state as an offense by the new Criminal Code adopted by the 1955 legislature." Id. at 631. Aggravated battery required intentional causation of "great bodily harm," which was then defined as "bodily injury which creates a high probability of death, or which causes serious permanent disfigurement, or which causes a permanent or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ or other serious bodily injury." Id. at 632.

The issue in *Bronston* whether a two-inch laceration to the scalp that required four sutures to close constituted "great bodily harm." *Id.* Applying the rule of *ejusdem generis*, the court held that that injury was not "great bodily harm" as a matter of law because the "nervous headaches and pain in the jaw which did not endure for a protracted period that [the victim] suffered are not in the same category as 'permanent or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ." *Id.* at 633.

The supreme court overruled *Bronston* in *La Barge*. *See La Barge*, 74 Wis. 2d at 334. The court held that its "study of the legislative history of the particular statute leads . . . to the conclusion that the phrase, 'or other serious bodily injury,' was designed as an intentional broadening of the scope of the statute to include bodily injuries which were serious, although not of the same type or category as those recited in the statute." *Id.* at 332.

The court acknowledged that "[w]hen a statute is passed which enumerates several specific items encompassed in the purview of the statute and then follows the specifics with a general phrase, it is reasonable to conclude that the general phrase was intended to cover only other items that fall within the general category of those enumerated." *Id.* But, the court said, the rule of *ejusdem generis* does not apply "where the general phrase was not a part of the original statute but was subsequently added." *Id.* at 333.

The court said that "[t]he legislative history of sec. 939.22(14), Stats., shows that the definition of 'great bodily harm' has undergone precisely that type of amendment." *Id*. The court explained:

"Great bodily harm" appeared in the Criminal Code for the first time in ch. 623, Laws of 1953, effective July 1, 1955, and was defined in sec. 339.22(12). That definition did not contain the last phrase that now appears in the statute. The phrase, "or other serious bodily injury," was added to the definition by the Laws of 1955, ch. 696, effective July 1, 1956. The original definition, hence, was in effect for one year

prior to the time the amendment became effective.

Id.

The court held that the legislative history of the 1955 amendment demonstrated that the phrase "other serious bodily injury" "was intended to broaden the type of injury that was to be encompassed in the definition." *Id.* "In view of this history," the court concluded, "it is apparent that the added phrase had a distinct meaning which was intended to broaden the scope of the statute. The 1955 amendment was intended to broaden the scope of the statute and was intended to include serious bodily injury of a kind not encompassed in the specifics of the original statute." *Id.* at 334. "Accordingly," the court held, "the *ejusdem generis* rationale of *Bronston* is overruled." *Id.* 

The victim in *La Barge* sustained numerous stabs and wounds, twelve of which required suturing, as well as a number of minor cuts, abrasions, and bruises. *Id.* at 335. The victim was hospitalized for six days and lost a "considerable amount of blood," but "at no time was there a probability of death, and . . . no internal organs were penetrated." *Id.* The supreme court held that the evidence was sufficient to support the jury's finding that those injuries constituted great bodily harm because "the jury could reasonably conclude that the multiple cuts and stab wounds of [the victim] constituted 'serious bodily injury." *Id.* 

In Flores v. State, 76 Wis. 2d 50, 250 N.W.2d 720 (1977), overruled by State v. Richards, 123 Wis. 2d 1,

365 N.W.2d 7 (1985), the court discussed the difference between "bodily harm" and "great bodily harm" in the context of a claim that the trial court erred by not submitting the lesser-included offense of battery to the jury. See id. at 55.1 The court noted that in situations where there is "no factual dispute as to the relatively minor injury inflicted upon a victim," those minor injuries will not be sufficient to constitute aggravated battery. *Id.* at 58. And there will be other situations, the court said, "where under no reasonable view of the evidence could the undisputed injuries sustained by a victim fall below the level of 'great bodily harm' required for conviction of aggravated battery." Id. at 58-59. But, the court added, "in many cases the situation will fall into a twilight zone." *Id.* at 59. In those case, the court said, "whether the resultant injury constituted 'bodily harm' or 'great bodily harm' becomes as it was in La Barge an issue of fact for the jury to resolve." Id.

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